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Forget the onslaught of the bull
That is a man

And whose strange plural form
Haunts the tangle

Of endless interwoven stone.

He does not exist.

In the black dusk

Hope not even for the savage beast.

JORGE LUIS BORGES
LABYRINTH
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Prologue

he men were dressed in fatigues. They signaled for us to stop the

car. Bob turned off the engine. The wind carried a small cloud of

dust past the windows of the Oldsmobile we had rented in Las
Vegas.

In the glare of the headlights we could see that two of them were
wearing sidearms. The third one remained on the edge of the trail,
closer to the guard post. He was carrying a machine gun. We lowered
the windows, avoiding any suspicious or sudden moves.

"Didn't you see the sign?' said one of the guards.

"What sign?' we asked.

He didn't bother answering. We had seen a rectangular warning
dgn that indicated a federa facility and restricted access, but it was
stored in the office of a television reporter back in Las Vegas, and Las
Vegas was a long way away. Somebody had obvioudy taken the sign
as a souvenir. On this deserted road, however, &l we had seen was the
full moon rising over the bare mountains of Nevada—mountains that
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isolate the real world from Nellis Air Force Base and the specific
location we sought: Area 51. Dreamland.

The rumor within the UFO research community stated that if you
could get close enough to Nellis, you would see strange luminous objects
maneuvering in remarkably erratic ways that seemed to defy physics.
Some people argued that these objects were flying saucers captured by
the United States government for testing purposes. Others thought
they were a kind of prototype weapon, probably a remotely piloted
vehicle (RPV), a fact that would explain their ability to change direc-
tions suddenly. They could even be RPVs made to resemble flying
saucers in support of some weird psychological warfare project. Which
is exactly what we wanted to understand, since we were working to-
gether on a screenplay for a UFO movie.

Bob Weiss, our producer, was at the wheel. Writer Tracy Torme was
watching the landscape, making mental notes of the hills, the brush, the
fences.

"With the full moon, and our headlights, we must have stuck out
like a sore thumb," | said to my companions while the guards went
around the vehicle, noting the make, year, and license plate.

"They've got infrared cameras and motion detectors," said Bob,
pointing to a tall tower near the gate.

Nobody had forewarned us about that down in Vegas. The guard
facility was new. Other people who had taken this road had not been
stopped.

"Who does the car belong to?" one of the guards asked.

"Hertz," Bob answered.

"Where are you going?"

"We were on the way to Rachel."

That seemed to satisfy them. Rachel is a small cluster of shacks and
trailers in the middle of the desert on the way to Tonopah, which has
become something of a high point for UFO investigators and stealth
technology buffs.

The guards took our drivers' licenses and went back to their shelter.
Through the lighted windows we could see someone making a phone
cal.
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"They want to find out if we've had any previous warning," Bob
remarked.

"What kind of outfit is this, anyway?' asked Tracy. "They're not
wearing Air Force uniforms.”

"They're not redly military." Bob answered. "They're the Air Force
version of Rent-A-Cop. Guard services, contractors. I've hired guys like
that to watch over movie sets in Hollywood. Here they come."

A guard walked toward us, carrying a clipboard. Pieces of paper with
carbon underneath were flapping in the desert wind. We read the
citation by the glare of the map light. It contained a warning not to set
foot inside the perimeter of Nellis Air Force Base again. | took one look
at the guy's machine gun and signed my copy. My friends did the same.
We turned around. Two of the guards climbed into a Blazer and
followed us al the way to the main road, staying some distance back
of the cloud of dust we were raising on the long, straight, unsurfaced
road.

They made sure we turned left toward Rachel. Any attempt to sneak
into the network of smaller trails that led into the hills would have been
futile. Besides, our Oldsmobile, although brand new, would never have
made it. As it was, it had trouble dragging us uphill on the main
highway.

"Why do they make engines with two and a haf cylinders?' Bob
joked, eager to put some distance between us and the Blazer.

There were no strange lights in the sky that night. And when we
stopped at a place that overlooked part of the northern section of the
base, al we heard were the muffled sounds of the desert, and dl we saw
were the familiar constellations being obscured by drifting clouds. If
there were flying saucers in the process of being tested at Dreamland,
the secret was being kept very well.



Introduction

t had to happen.
For over forty years the phenomenon of unidentified flying objects
has mystified hundreds of thousands of sincere witnesses, yet the
scientific establishment has refused to study it and stubbornly continues
to deny the very existence of the mystery. The governments of the
major nations have assembled countless dossiers about the subject. In
the course of military and intelligence data gathering, many remarkable
facts have been accumulated, as we know from the few tidbits the U.S.
government has been forced to release under the Freedom of Informa-
tion Act. Yet officids have never seen fit to declassify most of the files.
So a market has been created for the hoaxers, the charlatans, those who
are in the business of selling dreams and delusions.

Never mind that the few dedicated investigators who have patiently
analyzed the sightings recognize that we are still far from a solution to
the mystery; eager believers have fabricated fanciful explanations out of
whole cloth to provide belief and dogma where knowledge was lacking.
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As | have shown in Dimensions and Confrontations, there is indeed
a genuine UFO phenomenon and it constitutes one of the many mys-
teries that nature offers us. In my view it represents an opportunity to
practice some good science and to become aware of levels of conscious-
ness we had not previously recognized. But the current proliferation of
spurious materia] that confuses the real issues bothers me. It should be
analyzed and exposed for what it is; at best, a dangerous delusion, the
germ of new cults that would extinguish the light of reason and free
inquiry; at worst, an attempt to draw attention away from the red
nature of the UFO phenomenon, a deliberate effort to drive serious
research into the quicksands of speculation.

Not only have individua visionaries come forward with the definitive
revelation that UFOs came from Venus, Clarion, Hoova, Zeta Reticuli,
or hundreds of other places, but an entire cottage industry has grown
around groups dedicated to the "study" of fantasies channeled by our
kind space brothers from such unlikely places as UMMO or the Plei-
ades. Organizations with mysterious sources of money are now spring-
ing up with dozens of local chapters al over the United States and
Canada, and indeed, all over the world. They hypnotize witnesses. They
hold seminars and conferences; they edit expensive books and video-
tapes; some even run their own presses. Their activity blurs the real
nature of the phenomenon and complicates its study. It adds another
factor of confusion to the bewilderment of sincere witnesses who won-
der what they have seen and who are looking for a helping hand.

Things would not be so bad if the only hoaxers came from the luna-
tic fringe. Every field of endeavor has such borderline fanatics—even
well-established and dignified disciplines like physics, with its entour-
age of perpetual motion inventors, astronomy with its retinue of hollow-
earthers, and medicine with its proliferation of quacks.

But there is more.

Those who spend time in thefield—analyzing traces left by the UFO
phenomenon, interviewing witnesses, and assembling a study of the
underlying patters—have now stumbled on evidence of a quite different
sort: some of the most remarkable sightings are actually complex hoaxes
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that have been carefully engineered for our benefit. The witnesses are
merely the victims and the instruments rather than the authors of the
hoax.

Who is perpetrating such deliberate fabrications and what is their
goa? There is no single answer to this question because there is no
single source to human fantasy, no single reason for the deviousness of
those military or civilian agencies that are spending our money to
conduct secret psychological experiments—as the mind control projects
of the Sixties and Seventies have abundantly demonstrated.

So, as | kept digging into a mass of information that had been
generally avoided, it is not surprising that my research should have taken
me toward some unexpected quarters. Some cases, it turns out, involved
private groups with fantastic delusions and an insane compulsion to
spread them to a larger segment of the public. Others were found to
have been engineered by government agencies engaged in psychological
warfare exercises on which they declined comment, conveniently bury-
ing them behind the curtain of classfied intelligence. This bears em-
phasizing: some UFO sightings are covert experiments in the
manipulation of the belief systems of the public. And some cases simply
did not happen. The stories about them, numerous rumors of crashed
saucers and burned aliens, were not so much the result of delusions as
the product of deception: rumors deliberately planted in the eager
minds of gullible believers to hide more real facts about which it was
felt that the public and the scientific community had no "need to
know."

In previous works | have argued that ufology was, among other
things, "folklore in the making," and that it ought to be studied as such.
| was referring to the accumulation of stories about contact with aliens,
a new form of mythology that formed a striking paralel to the inter-
course with angels, demons, and elves in earlier ages. But the stories that
are spreading now go way beyond anything in ordinary folklore. We are
told that aliens have crashed on earth in their flying machines, that
bodies have been recovered and autopsies performed.

Thefirst part of this book, entitled "Alien Retrievals," describes the
array of such stories that have proliferated in the last ten years. Ac-
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counts no longer come from drunken prospectors in the desert or from
con men trying to make a fast buck. | have listened to a general who
headed up an agency of the U.S. Air Force and who told me about his
own contact. | have had dinner with an ex-CIA pilot who assured me
the aliens were actually here, dive and in large numbers, working
secretly with our scientists. And another man, a former Naval Intelli-
gence officer, assured me he had once been assigned the mission to brief
three admirals on the nature of the secret treaty that linked the U.S.
government to these aliens, who lived inside our most secret military
bases. He could locate the bases, and claimed he could identify people
who had seen these so-called aliens—but he never came through with
their names. In Las Vegas | met with Robert Lazar, who assured me
that he had actually worked on a Navy Intelligence project to reverse-
engineer the propulsion system of nine flying saucers held in secret
hangars. But Robert Lazar adso told me of his strange memory lapses,
of the peculiar liquid he was made to drink. . . .

In Part Two, entitled "The Hall of Mirrors," | will take you a step
further into the tangled jungle of urology's dark side. We will review
the results of some investigations into cases that were front page mate-
rial when they first became public, yet where the actual truth has never
been brought to light.

Revelations is an attempt to clear the underbrush of an interesting
scientific field that is cluttered with the weeds and the vines of human
fantasy and with the poisonous flowers of unbalanced minds. But it is
also an experiment in truth-seeking; like Confrontations, it is something
of a scientific detective story, an intellectual exercise in counterintelli-
gence. Some of my readers may object that the delusions in question
are of limited scope and only cause harm to a smal community of
zedlots who are ready and willing to believe anything that seems to
coincide with their own fantasies. Why not leave them to their crazy
rate? My answer is that we have to eliminate these spurious rumors if
we hope to identify the reel UFO phenomenon and perhaps to meet
genuine aliens some day. And the harm they cause is very real, very
tragic indeed: it is because of such rumors that astronomer Morris
Jessup committed suicide and that countless other researchers have
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wasted valuable time and jeopardized their careers in the pursuit of
mirages.

In Part Three, entitled "The Cobweb Correlation," | have tried to
show that the fast-growing belief in alien contact may well contain the
germ of more dangerous developments. The fact that the genuine UFO
cases have been ignored by professional scientists, and that even the
great mythologists of our time like Joseph Campbell have remained
utterly blind to them, makes the phenomenon, with dl its wonderful
physical and psychic complexity, a convenient medium that can be
sculpted with complete impunity by the manufacturers of alternative
theologies and the professional manipulators of the human mind.

All that can be said today about the genuine UFO phenomenon is
that it involves human consciousness as well as physical effects in its
manifestations. The study of such enigmas is what science is dl about.
But the line between belief in the redlity of that phenomenon and the
fascination with those who claim to control it, or to be in intimate
contact with it, is very fine indeed. This book demonstrates how this
fine line has repeatedly been crossed and what the consequences of the
resulting delusions could be. More importantly, the UFO mystery holds
a mirror to our own fantasies, it expresses our secret longings for a
wisdom that might come down from the stars in new, improved, easy-
to-use packaging, to revea the secrets of life and tell us, at long last,
who we are. In return, of course, for a modest fee, an easly affordable
spiritual, social, and political investment.

Why is it that in this process we are adways told that we have to
relinquish the right to interrogate the higher entities we worship? Why
are we afraid to ak them who they are, and to demand what makes
them so interested in teaching us, in frightening us, or in enlisting our
help in the great cosmic saga of their alegedly higher endeavors? In the
process of such interrogation we might well discover the ultimate hor-
ror, as in the poem by Borges quoted at the beginning of this book: there
may be no higher entities lurking in the maze after al, and no little
grayish alienswith bug eyes in the morgues of the Pentagon. In the final
analysis the labyrinth of our expectations may be empty, and it may
require a completely different approach to solve the problem of detect-
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ing and communicating with the other forms of consciousness that
probably fill the universe, and with the UFO phenomenon itsdf. How
could we shed the dreams and start on the red journey at last? How
could we ever recognize Them if we keep being snared by humanity's
faly, if we keep fdling into the trap of our own delusions, and if, in
the pursuit of our own preconceived theories, we rush to believe in every
fdse reveation that comes dong?

Oscar Wilde once obsarved that an aesthetic truth was such that its
opposite was equdly true. Perhaps the truths about dien contact, like
those of the metaphysicd kind, are the truths of masks



Strange is the night where black stars rise,
And strange moons circle through the skies,
But stranger still is

Lost Carcosa

CASSILDA'S SONG IN
THE KING IN YELLOW
ACT 1, SCENE 2

Part e

ALIEN RETRIEVALS

IT HAS BEGUN

n May 1974 Dr. J. Allen Hynek asked me to accompany him on a

visit to Los Angeles, where independent film producers Alan Sandler

and Robert Emenegger were shooting a new documentary. The show
was part of a series sponsored by the Defense Department and designed
to improve its image. The idea was to capitalize on the public's fascina-
tion with UFOs to show that the Air Force was open and excited about
the possibility of meeting space aliens, although it reserved judgment
on their existence. Other documentaries in the series, which were
supposed to focus on Air Force medical research and on space science
breakthroughs, were planned but never made. Sandler Institutional
Films had done similar public relations turnarounds for Bank of Amer-
ica and Armand Hammer, and that background led to the selection of
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Sandler and Emenegger. It was Colonel Coleman, an Air Force spokes
man, who handled the process, but they had other contacts in Washing-
ton as well.

Severa curious things happened during the filming of the documen-
tary. When the question of unidentified space objects was raised with
NASA, for instance, the agency flatly informed Alan Sandler that it had
no relevant footage at dl. But his Washington contact quickly supplied
a list of flights, dates, and frame numbers of the astronauts' films.
Armed with that information, Sandler was able to force NASA into
compliance—although the unidentified objects on the films are indeed
questionable.

Even more interesting was the matter of a certain Holloman Air
Force Base "contact with alien beings," which was first raised by the
military at a production meeting in Washington. Sandler and Emeneg-
ger were told in a very curious and equivocal manner that it would be
nice to include footage about "an actual contact that might occur in
the future, or perhaps had already occurred,” between aliens and the
U.S. military. Where? Well, at a large, isolated base somewhere in the
desert—Ilike Holloman Air Force Base in New Mexico.

A man named Paul Shartle, who was security manager and chief of
procurements for the audio-visual program at Norton Air Force Base,
told Emenegger that he had actually seen the film of the contact, which
had been shot about 1970.

Here is how Robert Emenegger describes the arrival of the objects
in his book UFOs: Past, Present and Future (New York: Ballantine
1974):

The day is clear. It's about 5:30 A.M. Traffic is light; one recon
plane is on the fidd ready for takeoff when the tower phone rings
and Sergeant Mann is given a report of an approaching unidenti-
fied craft.

We shift to the radar hut. On the scope severd blips appear
as the radar scans the sky. The radarman leans into his phone: "I'll
repeat it again—unidentified approaching objects—on coordinate

14
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forty-niner—thirty-four degrees southwest following an erratic
approach course. . . ."

The controller, sipping his coffee, responds. "Probably a
stray—civilian maybe? Keep me informed." He turns to his associ-
ate. "Check with Edwards."

When the unknown objects fal to respond to requests for identifica
tion, the base commander is contacted and an alert is declared.

By chance, cameramen, a technical sergeant, and a staff sergeant,
of the base photographic team, are aboard a base helicopter on a
routine photographic mission at the time, and they run of several
feet of film of three objects in the sky over Holloman. One of the
objects breaks away and begins a descent. A second high-speed
camera crew, set up to photograph atest launch, turn their camera
toward the object and run of approximately sx hundred feet of
16mm color film.

The cameras continueto roll as the extraordinary vehicle comes
into view. It hovers, aimost silently, about ten feet off the ground
for nearly a minute, and yaws like a ship at anchor. Then it sets
down on three extension arms.

The commander and two officers, along with two base Air
Force scientists, arrive and wait apprehensively. A panel dides
open on the side of the craft.

Stepping forward, there are one, then a second, and a third—
what appear to be men dressed in tight-fitting jumpsuits. Perhaps
short by our standards, with an odd blue-gray complexion, eyes set
far apart. A large, pronounced nose. They wear headpieces that
resemble rows of a ropelike design.

The commander and the two scientists step forward to greet
the visitors. Arrangements are made by some inaudible sort of
communication and the group quickly retires to an inner office in
the King | area. There they are met and guided to the end of Mars
Street to the west area building number 930. Left behind stand
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a stunned group of military personnel. Who the visitors are, where
they're from, and what they want, is unknown.

Sandler and Emenegger were actually told that the footage existed
and might be made available, but Colonel Coleman never answered the
obvious question: if that footage exists, is it a training film, a simulation
designed for psychological evaluation, or actual photography of the
arrival of a genuine flying saucer from space?

| was only peripheraly involved in the show, where the historical
section drew heavily on Anatomy of a Phenomenon and Passport to
Magonia, but | had no input into the production. Those who did,
including Dr. Hynek, were very surprised at the way in which Sandler
and his crew were admitted at Holloman. Their firg request to film
there was met with utter disbelief: "You want to come here? With a
camera? We're a classified facility. Do you realize how long it will take
to get clearances for everyone?'

Sandler called his Washington contact to report the difficulty and
the expected change in schedule. "We'll soon fix that!" was the re-
sponse. The next day Holloman was calling back: "When would you like
to bring your crew, Mr. Sandler? The clearances will be taken care of."

Until the last minute, Sandler and Emenegger expected to be sup-
plied with the actual footage, but it never materialized and the docu-
mentary showed standard animation instead, sandwiched between
scenes of the actual Holloman location, and elaborate drawings of the
so-called aliens.

As late as 1988 Paul Shartle stated that he had been shown the actual
film, and that it featured three disk-shaped craft, one of which seemed
to experience difficulty and landed, while the other two flew off. Three
aliens came out. In obvious contrast with most of the UFO literature,
which describes beings with little or no proboscis, the gray beingsin the
film had a pronounced nose and held up an instrument described as a
trandlator. His superiors told Shartle that the film was nothing but
theatrical footage purchased by the Air Force, but he had no record of
it in hisfilesat Norton. Furthermore, he said, the film appeared "too
real to be atraining film." And it had been shot by Air Force personnel,

16
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who were preparing to film a real movie of an acceleration test that same
day.

Sandler, Emenegger, and Hynek Ieft tantalized, confused, and a little
angry after this exercise in which sensational information had first been
dangled then withdrawn at the last minute by the Air Force, in a classic
pattern of manipulation. After all, what good did it do to suggest that
such a scene might happen in the future, or might aready have hap-
pened, if real footage actually existed?

This was not a case of one group wanting to release the film and
another one holding on to it. In recent conversations | have learned that
the footage exists and is not even classified. It would seem that anyone
could leak it out without severe penalties, especialy if it is credibly
deniable as simple theatrical footage. Clearly, this is a case of the Air
Force playing games.

The John MacArthur Foundation put up the funds for the Sandler
documentary. Curiously, according to Bob Emenegger, the Foundation
reguested at the last moment not to be listed in the credits, and it gave
no explanation for this action.

COVER-UP CLAIMS

In the last few years severa sensational television programs, including
a 1989 documentary distributed by Seligman Productions and entitled
Cover-Up, have presented aleged evidence of the infiltration of extra
terrestrial aliens on earth. The government, claimed the producers of
these shows, is holding secret crashed saucers and the bodies of their
aien pilots.

What was once the province of a few isolated zealots or the cate-
chism of weird occult groups, has now become an influential subculture
with its own magazines, congresses, and pilgrimages. This subculture
exploits the genuine experiences of thousands of persons who have been
baffled by UFO sightings, providing answers out of its own fantasies.
It is able to channel its imagery to the media and to influence the
genera public in powerful ways. What began as a series of delusions

17
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created by the unresolved problem of unidentified flying objects is
evidently fulfilling a deeper socid and spiritual need for millions of
people. We may be witnessing here the birth of a powerful new myth,
perhaps even the emergence of a new religion.

Faced with this avalanche of conflicting rumors, Part One of this
book is a skeptical survey of the alleged history of flying saucer "crashes"
and the retrieval of aliens—dead or aivel—by the U.S. government.

If we believe some retired and some active members of U.S. Intelli-
gence, not only have we recovered crashed saucers, but the government
of the United States is in league with hundreds of space aliens who are
here on earth, working alongside our best scientists in underground
cities and occasionally going out in their sophisticated spacecraft to
abduct human beings. Such researchers as New York artist Budd Hop-
kins and Temple University historian David Jacobs, who specialize in
hypnotizing witnesses after UFO sightings, even believe that the pur-
pose of the abductions is to procure ovulating earth females for the
loathsome genetic experiments of the alien invaders, an idea that dates
back to the 1958 i-fi flick, / Married a Monster From Outer Space.

According to some government scientists, like Dr. Bruce Maccabee,
the higher echelons of the administration in Washington are so con-
cerned about the potential menace posed by the aliens that they have
designed a complex technological response—the so-caled Star Wars
system—not to aim its lasers and its particle beams at targets on earth,
as the public has been told, but to zap possible invaders from above!
If we believe many vocal researchers in the mainstream of today's UFO
research, the American taxpayer is actually subsidizing the development
of a network of weapons destined to protect the earth itsdf against the
UFOs, under cover of SDI and with the full cooperation of the Soviet
Union.

This is a fantastic and complex belief, a piece of twentieth century
mythology elaborated in successive layers to the point of extreme aber-
ration. Yet it clams the fascination and the loyalty of thousands of
believers, some of whom, as you will now read, do occupy responsible
positions.

Like any emerging movement, this one has its shrines. Examples

18
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include Kirtland Air Force Base, with its crypts of mystery, and Dulce,
New Mexico, with its great temples to which spiritual energy can be
directed by the faithful. Because this is a technocratic movement, its
capitals are not caled Saint Peter's, Mecca, Jerusdem, or Sdt Lake
City. Their designations are code names, words of power: Hangar 18,
Maedic 12, and Area 51. It is to a pilgrimage through this sacred
landscape that | now invite you.



Hangar 18

he year was 1978. Once again the UFO community was abuzz

with rumors that the U.S. government was about to reveal what

many people claimed was the ultimate truth about UFOs. Not only

had the military observed and photographed these elusive objects since

World War I, not only had fragments been recovered and analyzed,

but they believed entire saucers had been captured following crashes to

the earth, and little alien bodies had been preserved. They were kept

secret in Pentagon freezers, and government scientists were busy study-
ing them.

CRASHED SAUCERS AND LITTLE ALI ENS

Like everyone else, | had heard these stories before—all the way back
to 1954 to be exact. The theme of crashed saucersisone of the standard
items in supermarket tabloids, and it occasionally surfaces in the more
respectable newspapers. However, | had found it easy to ignore stories
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that appeared to be gross exaggerations or simple fabrications. Under
the deluge of the new claims, | felt perhaps | had been closing my mind
unwisaly to the possibility of such crashes. So 1 went through my files
to do an assessment of the cases that | had alowed to accumulate
without analysis or investigation on my part. The results of this survey
surprised me.

Consider the following catalogue which, | repeat, is composed of raw
data that | had not verified mysdf.

1. Aurora, Texas. April 17,1897. A mysterious airship is said to have
crashed in this town, exploding into many small fragments. Reportedly,
the occupant was a Martian and the craft contained papers covered
with hieroglyphics. The pilot's body is supposed to be buried in the local
cemetery. Although the case was widely regarded as a hoax, new investi-
gation brought to light a peculiar dloy that was eventually analyzed by
the McDonnell Aircraft Company.

2. Ubatuba, Brazil. 1933 or 1934. Witnesses on a beach are said to
have seen a disk dive and explode, showering the area with dlvery
fragments of highly pure magnesium.

3. Spitzbergen, Norway. May 1947. A report by journalist Dorothy
Kilgallen stated that British scientists and airmen were examining the
wreckage of a mysterious flying ship. They were convinced, she added,
that it originated on another planet and that the saucers were staffed
by small men, probably under four feet tall.

4. Roswell, New Mexico. July 2, 1947. A bright disk was seen to fly
over Roswell in a northwesterly course, and an object, possibly the same
one, crashed on a ranch seventy-five miles northwest of the city. Its
wreckage was discovered by ranch manager "Mac" Brazel and two of
his children. Brazel did not report the event until severa days later
when he was able to go into town. On July 7 Major Jesse Marcel,
intelligence officer for the Army Air Force at the loca base, recovered
Part of the wreckage with another officer named "Cav" Cavitt. A
statement was issued to the press by a public relations officer, Lieuten-
ant Walter Haut, announcing the recovery of a crashed flying disk.
Marcel was ordered to load the debris on a B-29 and it was flown to
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Wright Field in Ohio. The plane made a stop at Fort Worth, where
General Roger M. Ramey took charge of the operation, ordered the
men not to talk to reporters, and released a statement ascribing the
whole &ffar to a weather balloon. Researchers William Moore and
Stanton Friedman later interviewed ninety-two persons about the case,
including thirty firsthand witnesses. Jesse Marcel told them the material
consisted of small beams made of something like balsa wood, hard and
flexible, with "some sort of hieroglyphics." There was also an unusual
parchmentlike brown substance, and a quantity of light and extremely
durable tinfoil-like metal, as well as "a black metal box a few inches
square" (The Roswell Incident, Berkley paperback edition, p. 72). In
other versions of the Roswell story, investigators are said to have found
a crashed egg-shaped vehicle and three or four humanoid bodies severa
miles avay from the primary site.

5. Aztec, New Mexico. February 13, 1948. Three radar units are
said to have picked up an object on a faling traectory. When it did
not answer attempted radio contact, military personnel in the area were
alerted and a message was allegedly sent to General George C. Marshall,
Secretary of State, who in turn requested that a search party be sent
from Camp Hale in Colorado. According to William S. Steinman, the
helicopter team located the crash site on a rocky plateau twelve miles
northeast of Aztec. After breaking in one of the "portholes,” the scien-
tists managed to open a door. They found the remains of two charred
humanoids. One of the team members, Dr. Detley W. Bronk, is sad
to have examined the bodies. This story was first reported by Robert
S. Carr, lecturer in mass communication at the University of South
Florida, who used to work for Walt Disney on "classified projects
involving nonverbal communication." Carr placed the site twelve miles
west (as opposed to northeast) of Aztec. He stated the disk was thirty
feet in diameter and contained twelve (not two) humanoids who were
taken to Wright-Patterson Air Force Base near Dayton, where they
remain in cryonic suspension. The four-foot-tall bodies were wearing
"dark blue uniforms made of metallic, flexible cloth.” The disk was
stored in Hangar 18.

6. Mexico, south of Laredo, Texas. August 1948. Four officers are
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alleged to have witnessed the crash of an object and the recovery of
bodies in an area located thirty-eight miles south of Laredo, in Mexico.
The information comes from a man named Todd Zechel, who turned
it over tothe NBC affiliate in Chicago. Theoriginal story by Steve Tom
appeared in Midnight Globe, a tabloid of dubious reliability. It is based
on a rumor circulated by someone who was "in the Army Security
Agency or in NSA in the Sixties."

7. Death Valley, California. August 19, 1949. Two prospectors
named Mace Garney and Buck Fitzgerald are said to have observed an
object crashing in the desert. It was a disk twenty-four feet in diameter.
Their story appeared on page thirteen of the loca Bakersfidld newspa
per the next day.

8. Mexico. Before 1950. Mr. Roy L. Dimmick, a sdles manager for
the Apache Powder Company of Los Angeles, reported talking to a man
from Mexico and to a man from Ecuador who had seen a saucer crash
near Mexico City. The story is told by Frank Scully, notorious author
of the colorful book Behind the Flying Saucers. Scully did not hesitate
to reprint the wildest rumors of his time.

9. Argentina. April 1950. In a remote region of Argentina, Mr. E.
C. Bossa found a strange disk and four small dead pilots. He returned
to the site the next day with a friend and found only a pile of warm
ashes. A cigar-shaped object was seen briefly as it flew over at high
altitude.

10. Brady, Montana. 1953. Mr. C. M. Tenney, who was returning
from Great Falls to Conrad, saw an ova object that followed his car
while balls of fire fel all over the road. Later that day his phone rang
and a colonel from Malmstrom Air Force Base told him to come to the
base at 10:00 A.M. the next day. He was escorted to a windowless
building surrounded by a wire fence. He was asked to give and sign his
story. While he was doing this, he saw two men carrying large laundry
bags containing humanoid bodies. The source is the tabloid National
Tattler, January 5, 1975.

11. Kingman, Arizona. May 21, 1953. During a special assignment
with the USAF a man assisted in the investigation of a crashed disk
resembling aluminum, which had impacted twenty inches into the
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sand. It was oval, thirty feet in diameter. Inside were two swivel chairs,
an ova cabin, and numerous instruments. A tent was set up nearby,
sheltering the remains of the only occupant. It was four feet tall, had
adark brown complexion, and was clothed in a silvery metal suit. It wore
no helmet. The source is a witnessed affidavit published by respected
UFO researcher Ray Fowler in Official UFO Magazine, April 1976.

12. Birmingham, Alabama. Mid-Fifties. A saucer allegedly crashed
near Birmingham. The area was cordoned of and humanoid bodies
were transported by helicopter to Maxwell. (A friend gave me this story.
He knows the daughter of a military man who played a part in transfer-
ring the unknown bodies from a helicopter to a waiting aircraft.)

13. Mattydale, New York. Spring 1954. In this suburb of Syracuse,
at 3:00 A.M. on a Sunday, an information specialist and his wife saw an
object about twenty feet in diameter being examined on the ground by
several men who took pictures. The next day an officer told them the
event was a military secret. Later the police simply denied the entire
incident.

14. Frdynia, Poland. 1959. An object is said to have falen into the
harbor. Divers recovered a piece of shiny metal. It was examined by the
Polytechnic Institute and the Polish navy. Some of the materia was
reportedly lost. Several days later a small humanoid was found on a
beach nearby and the remains were sent to the Soviet Union.

15. New Paltz, New York. March 1960. According to Carr, loca
law enforcement authorities managed to catch a humanoid outside his
craft while his two copilots ran back to the saucer and took off. The alien
was turned over to the CIA. It died after twenty-eight days in captivity.

16. Southwest Missouri. January 1967. A Mr. Loftin found a forty-
inch disk and gave it to the U.S. Testing Company for analysis. (The
source is ldentified Flying Saucers, by David McKay Co., 1968.)

17. Carbondale, New Jersey. November 9, 1974. A glowing object
fdl into a small lake near this town. Three teenagers saw it fdl into the
pond at 7:30 on a Saturday night. They observed a yellow-white glow
in the center of the pond. It shifted to a point about twenty-five feet
offshore. The boys were kept in a police car for three hours while a
number of vehicles equipped with floodlights and cranes removed an
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object that was deposited into a van that drove away. The following
Monday a scuba diver removed a railroad lantern with a battery from
the lake and the whole incident was then explained as a hoax.

18. Chili, New Mexico. May 17, 1974. An Air Force team is sup-
posed to have removed a metallic circular object sixty feet in diameter
from an impact area. The object was alegedly moved to Kirtland Air
Force Base.

19. Padcaya, Bolivia: on the Argentina border. May 6, 1978. A
large luminous object is supposed to have crashed on a 13,000-foot
mountain near this village. An expedition of soldiers and scientists was
dispatched to the site, but it was delayed by bad weather and found
nothing.

These were some of the stories that surfaced when | reviewed the
files. All of them were questionable. The sources were of very uneven
reliability. There were another dozen reports that were so poorly de-
scribed that they could at best be considered hearsay, and the same
can be said about several new cases that have surfaced since 1978. How-
ever, there is no denying that a few of the above accounts are wdl-
documented. In particular, the Roswell, New Mexico, event has been
investigated in depth by men familiar with the field, who have located
and interviewed the mgor witnesses. But there is much argument about
what realy happened at Roswell. In their book about the event (The
Roswell Incident, N.Y.: Berkley Books, 1988) Charles Berlitz and Bill
Moore quote the late Meade Layne, director of a UFO organization
caled Borderland Sciences Research Foundation (Vista, California)
regarding the alleged aien bodies found at Roswell. Mr. Layne stated
that he knew a scientist named Dr. Weisberg, "a physics professor from
a California university," who examined six occupants. That part of the
wreckage was allegedly placed on a truck that drove from New Mexico
through Fagstaff, Arizona, to Needles and Cadiz in California and
finally to Murdoc, where Edwards Air Force Base is located.

Another unconfirmed rumor states that on or about April 15, 1954,
four men—Gerald Light, Franklin Allen of the Hearst papers, Edwin
Nourse of the Brookings Institute, and Bishop MclIntyre of Los An-
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geles—examined five spacecraft that were under scientific investigation
at Edwards. In a letter to Meade Layne, Gerald Light added that
President Eisenhower himself had gone secretly to Edwards to view the
disks and the dien bodies in person, and an officid statement to the
country was being prepared for the middle of May 1954. Checks into
this story led nowhere. Light was a frequent "astral traveler,” and he
may have thought that he witnessed the happening during one of his
remote viewing sessions. Yet this rumor is very interesting because it
represented the first of many imminent releases of the truth about
crashed flying saucers to be attributed again and again to the U.S.
government.

In their book, Berlitz and Moore added that fragments of the Ros-
well wreckage were later gathered with the other material from Roswell
inside a structure known as Building 18-A, Area B at Wright-Patterson
Air Force Base near Dayton. That building became the legendary
Hangar 18—to which many UFO books refer as the shelter of the
ultimate secret, the place where our government is hiding crashed
saucers and their little occupants.

A movie by that title was eventually made in 1980 by director James
Conway, with Darren McGavin and Robert Vaughn in leading roles.
Although Hangar 18 is meant to be serious and appropriately terrifying,
bad casting and a very uneven script combine to make it one of the
funniest flicksof the genre. | especially relish the scene in which govern-
ment assassination experts are sent to kill the two astronauts who have
discovered the proverbial Truth about flying saucers. The assassins enter
a refinery where the astronauts steal a tanker truck and drive madly
toward the exit. One of the men in black is heard ordering the other
marksman, as they carefully aim their powerful rifles at the fleeing
target, to blow out their tires. Surely there are better ways to stop a
fully-loaded gasoline truck in the middle of a refinery than trying to hit
the wheels. In the face of such careless incompetence on the part of
the government agents, the truck naturally escapes!

In May 1989, while attending a meeting of European UFO inves
tigators in Lyon, France, | heard freelance journalist Bill Moore de-
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scribe the latest details of his investigations at Roswell. He brought to
light some new facts and some new questions. Most notably, Bill con-
firmed to me that the retrieval of the debris at Roswell had taken place
on July 9, 1947, while the crash had taken place on July 2. If there were
bodies, | pointed out to Moore, then they must have been exposed to
the summer heat of New Mexico, not to mention numerous predators,
for a full week. The idea that one of the aleged pilots would have been
dlive, or even that an autopsy of the cadavers would have yielded
detailed biological data about soft organs, appears improbable. And why
did none of the witnesses report the overpowering stench that is the
most obvious feature of any crash site?

In numerous lectures and media appearances around the United
States, UFO researchers like Bill Moore and lecturer Stanton Friedman
have used the Roswell case as a basis for suggesting that the U.S.
government knew about UFOs and had captured hardware as well as
dead and even live aliens. Stanton Friedman, in particular, has made
his position very clear: flying saucers, he says, are "somebody else's
spacecraft." Those who believe that such knowledge resides in Wash-
ington aso insist that the release of the information is "imminent."
Such release, as we saw earlier, has been "imminent" since the fifties.
But how would the Pentagon make it available to an ignorant public?
The answer given by the UFO believers is that there would be a
carefully planned program of leaks through documentaries, Hollywood
movies, and tabloids that can be easily influenced. Usualy mentioned
as examples of this process are the two versions of the Alan Sandler
television documentary: UFOs: Past, Present and Future, first released
in 1974—accompanied by a book of the same title written by Robert
Emenegger—and released again with new footage, in 1979, under the
titte UFOs: It Has Begun.

Also mentioned as an attempt to prepare the public for the ultimate
revelation of a visit from outer space are Steven Spielberg's Close
Encounters of the Third Kind and Cover-Up, the 1989 TV documen-
tary. | was only peripherally involved in Close Encounters and never saw
or heard anything about it that might indicate any knowledge of the

27



REVELATIONS

field beyond what a well-financed production company could acquire,
especially when it was harnessed to the vison of someone as gifted as
Steven Spielberg.

But the Sandler documentaries were another story, one in which |
did become involved, as | have mentioned above. | was asked to be the
narrator for the film's second release, and | helped the investigation
team in gathering new material. The experience failed to convince me
that the Air Force had a hangar full of scout ships, but it led me to
conclude that something bizarre was happening behind the scenes.

DANGLING CARROTS

Early in 1985 Robert Emenegger called me about a new project. He had
been approached again by Colonel Coleman, who was now retired and
living in Florida. Coleman indicated the time might be right to produce
a new film on UFOs; the government might release some evidence, he
said, and Allen Hynek might be willing to participate again.

At the time, Allen Hynek had retired from Northwestern University
and was moving his private research center to Phoenix, Arizona, where
he had been given hope of new funding. (This hope, unfortunately,
never materialized.) He spoke to Emenegger, was intrigued by what he
heard, and again sought my cooperation.

Robert Emenegger had now reached a firm conclusion: the Depart-
ment of Defense would, in fact, release sensational information, he told
me, but only if it could be made part of a documentary that was
professional enough and interesting enough to reopen the whole subject
before the American public. If Emenegger could convince credible
people like Hynek and mysdf to participate, then, and only then, would
the "final" evidence be made available.

The prospect of some kind of proof was being dangled in front of
us again. My reaction to these fedlers was negative and frankly skeptical,
and | immediately cautioned Hynek. If the United States government
had custody of a flying saucer, with or without little pilots, or even a
piece of such a craft, that information in itself would be worth an entire

28



HANGAR 18

documentary; and no matter how credible Hynek or | could be in terms
of our backgrounds in the subject, the government had the capability
to release that information at any time through much more powerful
channels. The National Academy of Sciences, for instance, could hold
a forma press conference in Washington to announce this discovery to
the world.

Robert Emenegger answered my concern with what | thought was
a rather shaky argument. His unnamed contacts felt that their "evi-
dence" should be leaked carefully, as part of something else. He was
about to meet with two executives from the Defense Audiovisua
Agency (DAVA) to discuss the plan further.

| took extensive notes during this period, because a chronology ap-
peared to be important. These notes show that on Sunday, March 10,
1985, | spoke with Emenegger again following a meeting at his house,
which was attended by Dr. Hynek and his Arizona team and by
DAVA's deputy director, General Glenn E. Miller. One of the ques-
tions Miller asked Hynek was: "How would you photograph a UFO?"
Although he said nothing specific, he left the impression that the
Pentagon did have solid physical evidence.

Bob Emenegger told me that, fascinated as he was with these ac-
counts, he would not pursue them if he was alone. He would "need
someone to prod him" if he were to do another UFO documentary. If
Hynek and | had a "new angle" and were willing to go out on a limb
with a firm statement about our own work on the physical reality of
UFOs, and if the statement was convincing enough for the Air Force,

then the Pentagon might put the crowning touch on the production
and release the final proof.

Naturally, after a hasty phone conference, Hynek and | decided we
would do nothing of the kind. As far as | was concerned, either the
Pentagon believed it had genuine physical evidence, in which case it
should be brought out for everyone to see, or someone was playing
games, in which case | was not going to be used as a pawn, like those
who had been eager to propagate every rumor, no matter how uncor-
roborated or absurd. Hynek agreed. "We should not be a party to
deliberate misleading of the public," he said to me, "and we will not
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take the bait, but if there is any chance of uncovering genuine evidence,
let's pursue it behind the scenes.”

He laughed as | added, "We could call this investigation 'The Case
of the Dangling Carrots.' "

Dr. Hynek and his assistants did go to Norton Air Force Base for a
private meeting with Miller and with his boss, General Scott, who was
the director of DAVA. These two men assured an amazed Dr. Hynek
that given the proper circumstances, they "would release the evidence
on their own authority." But something else became obvious at that
meeting: both Miller and Scott strongly believed in UFOs and were
outright "contactees."

Hynek was given a tour of the huge DAVA facility and he was
invited to Edwards Air Force Base, where, he was told, there was
"something of interest you should see."

"Indeed, there were carrots dangled al over the place, as you had
predicted,” Dr. Hynek's research assistant told me. It was even sug-
gested that Senator Barry Goldwater would help, and possibly former
president Jimmy Carter as well.

Unfortunately, in his private meeting with Miller and Scott, Hynek
found the two officers very naive in their approach to the subject and
superficial in their knowledge of science. For example, they firmly
believed in the story of Billy Meier, the Swiss contactee who has taken
numerous photographs of what he cals "Pleiadian UFOs." When he
confronted them with the direct question: "What footage do you actu-
aly have on UFOs?" they answered flatly, "We don't know."

"Go there and try to find out more," Dr. Hynek told me. "Perhaps
General Miller will tell you things he didn't tell me."

So | drove out to Norton Air Force Base mysdf on Wednesday,
March 27, 1985.

THE NORTON MEETING

Norton is located north of the little town of Redlands, near San Bernar-
dino. The huge DAV A building is clearly visible from outside the base,
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and it is reached through Gate 5. | gave my name to the guard and was
immediately escorted into Dr. Miller's office, a windowless, paneled
room with a portrait of General Patton and various impressive tes-
timonials on the walls.

Dr. Miller wore a black suit, a shiny white shirt, a bright red tie, a
bright red handkerchief, and bright red socks. He closed the door to his
office, sat in an armchair in front of me and smiled. "How can | help
you?' he asked.

This astonished me since he knew perfectly well that our meeting
had been arranged as a follow-up to his discussion with Hynek. All right,
| thought, so we are here to play games. | told him that | was an
associate of Dr. Hynek, that | had a longstanding interest in UFOs
going back to the 1954 wave of sightings in France, and that | under-
stood he had had a personal experience with unidentified objects.

He told me he was perfectly familiar with my books and with my
background. He himself held two doctoral degrees, one in political
science from Heidelberg University in Germany, the other, interest-
ingly enough, in theology. He had indeed experienced several sightings
over the years. Thefirst one took place at White Sands in 1956. While
filming a rocket launch he was suddenly aware of something above him
and to the left. He looked up and saw a very large circular object
hovering over the base. A jeep arrived at high speed. An officer came
out, confiscated al the film, and told al personnel present that what
they had seen must not be discussed.

"They [the UFOs] must have been observing our technology," Dr.
Miller said to me.

The second sighting took place about 1980, in the desert eighty miles
away from Mojave. He had driven there alone to hunt and to take some
pictures when he suddenly heard a whirring sound and saw an object
which, however, was not located in the same place as the sound.

"It was as if it was able to project the sound to a different place,"
he said in answer to my questions.

The craft was curved and it landed on four pods, about sx feet in
length and sx inches wide. After a while a ramp was lowered. A man
approached the opening. He wore a small mask over his nose and a
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pointed helmet. Miller could not tell if he had any hair. He was a normal
human being, with smooth skin and intensely blue eyes that had the
ova shape of an Oriental's eyes.

"Would you like to come inside?' the man asked.

Miller accepted the invitation and was escorted into the craft. He
was struck by the stark simplicity of everything he saw there. The
atmosphere was very pure and gave him a sense of elation. There were
three other beings aboard, al of whom breathed normally. General
Miller's escort aso removed his mask.

The controls consisted of touch panels and voice-activated devices—
exactly the kind of technology that was beginning to appear in laborato-
ries across the U.S. at that time. The seats were molded to fit the men,
who appeared to be about forty or forty-five years of age, except for one
who seemed younger, in his twenties.

"I spent about fifteen minutes inside,” Miller told me.

"Did you notice anything unusual when you left?"

"That's a strange thing. It was dark when | came out."

"Did you fed your sense of time was altered?"

"Something happened to time."

"Were there any traces?' | asked, looking for some physica confir-
mation.

"No, there was nothing in the desert. The craft flew away, with the
lights at the periphery glowing with the colors of the rainbow."

"Any sounds?"

"No sound at all."

Miller added that he had trouble sleeping for sx weeks after the
event. He fdt that he had had further communication with the entity
from the craft, but he did not elaborate.

His last sighting took place near Vandenberg AFB in 1984. He was
with a group of people who stopped at dusk to observe a large ovd object
in the sky. He showed me a snapshot. To me it looked plainly like an
ordinary lenticular cloud.

If | had not been spe